STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAQUAN JAVOR CRUMMEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2020-000537

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

TAYLOR D GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**RECEIVED**  
**May 26 2021**  
SC Court of Appeals

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court erred in admitting a photographic lineup identification, where the lineup was cumulative, suggestive, and not probative, where the identification was unreliable, and where the witness allegedly identified Appellant via a Facebook account and then was asked to perform a photographic lineup containing a photograph of the individual she had already identified via social media?

II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting two photographs from social media of Appellant and his co-defendant, where the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, where the photographs showed the two individuals holding money and smoking, and where the photographs were cumulative to the testimony offered by the witness who encountered the photographs on social media?

III. Whether the trial court erred in admitting a recorded jail call wherein Appellant referred to the Facebook page a witness identified him from, where the call was cumulative and where the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the call?

IV. Whether the court erred by not finding that a search warrant was deficient, where no probable cause existed on the face of the warrant, where no specifics were alleged, and where the magistrate who signed the warrant was unable to validate the warrant based on the lapse in time between signing and the date of trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by a Charleston County grand jury in February 2018 for burglary in the first degree, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, two counts of assault and battery in the first degree, and five counts of armed robbery. R. 1157. Along with co-defendant Denali White, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Kirk Griffin and a jury on March 9, 2020. R. 1. Appellant had also been indicted on five kidnapping charges, but the state did not try those offenses. R. 5, ll. 16 – 21. Phillip Daniel Summa and Teresa Norris represented Appellant; Daniel Cooper and Jennifer Shealy appeared on behalf of the state.

After a weeklong trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted as to every charge except one armed robbery indictment. R. 1140 l. 20 – 1142, l. 11. Co-defendant White was acquitted on every offense. R. 1129, l. 20 – 1130, l. 24. Judge Griffin sentenced Appellant to fifteen years on the burglary in the first degree charge, fifteen years on each of the armed robbery charges, ten years on each of the armed robbery offenses, and five years for the possession of a weapon charge. R. 1153, l. 18 – 1154, l. 15. The sentences were crafted to run concurrently. Id.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

**I. The trial court erred in admitting a photographic lineup identification, where the lineup was cumulative, suggestive, and not probative, where the identification was unreliable, and where the witness allegedly identified Appellant via a Facebook account and then was asked to perform a photographic lineup containing a photograph of the individual she had already identified via social media.**

### Standard of review

“[W]hether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) (finding show-up identification unreliable as a matter of law); see also State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81-82, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526-27 (2004) (citing Moore and holding that photographic line-up procedure was “patently suggestive”). “Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” Moore at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448. “In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court.” Id. Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

### Relevant facts

Dulce Martinez-Garcia was in a mobile home in Charleston County on July 23, 2017 when two young men knocked on the door and came inside uninvited. R. 136, l. 9 – 140, l. 1. Martinez-Garcia testified that both individuals were armed and told the occupants of the mobile home to give up their money. R. 142, l. 25 – 143, l. 12. Martinez-Garcia could not remember how long the event lasted but claimed to have gotten a good look at both young men. R. 145, ll.

10 – 25; R. 147, ll. 2 – 13. She described their clothes and indicated that she recognized one of the boys from school. R. 147, ll. 14 – 22.

Multiple people, including Martinez-Garcia, called 911. R. 147, l. 23 – 148, l. 3. After being treated at the hospital, Martinez-Garcia went with an officer, Zulfiqar Khan, to her high school to look through a yearbook in order to identify one of the young men. R. 148, l. 4 – 149, l. 6. Martinez-Garcia was unable to identify either of the young men from the yearbook. Id.

On July 26, three days after the incident, Martinez-Garcia contacted Khan. R. 151, l. 23 – 153, l. 14. Martinez-Garcia alleged to have seen one of the suspects, the taller of the two, on her Facebook news feed. Id. The individual she believed to have been involved with the robbery was supposedly broadcasting on Facebook, live from Florida. Id. Martinez-Garcia testified pre-trial that the name associated with the Facebook account was Runachekup Youngn. Id. Martinez-Garcia observed multiple photographs of the individual on the account. Id. Khan was asked to come to the sheriff's office for a lineup. Id. Martinez-Garcia showed law enforcement the Facebook page containing pictures of the individual she believed was responsible for the robbery. R. 160, ll. 14 – 25. In looking through photographs on the Facebook account, Martinez-Garcia also claimed to have located the second individual. R. 159, l. 21 – 160, l. 7.

In addition to the Facebook page, Martinez-Garcia testified that she also recognized the taller of the two individuals from her father's mechanic shop. R. 167, ll. 1 – 24. On cross-examination at a pre-trial identification hearing, Martinez-Garcia testified that she recognized the people in the photographic lineup from Facebook. R. 176, ll. 5 – 14.

The state contended the photographic lineup was admissible. R. 185, l. 13 – 186, l. 20.

At the outset of Appellant’s argument in reply, counsel outlined the problematic nature of the identification:

[W]e just think that it’s unreliable, the lineup itself. I mean, obviously they then got who the Facebook belonged to, showed them in a lineup. She of course was going to pick the person that she had already seen and decided this person, from a different photograph. They didn’t show her a lineup at the time, and I think that was on purpose.

So, Your Honor, I think that just generally it’s an unreliable identification. And I want to be clear for the record. They show a lot of photographs here from the State, so we’re going to object to those under [SCRE] 403 and 401.

R. 187, ll. 4 – 18. Counsel for co-defendant White joined in the objection, pointing out how there are actually two different identification procedures: a self-identification “done entirely of her own volition” and then the one initiated by law enforcement. R. 187, l. 20 – 258, l. 10. What the state did was bolster its own witness’s testimony by including a photograph of an individual Martinez-Garcia had already identified, according to the argument of counsel for co-defendant White:

So what we’re having is I’m providing you with multiple pictures of people and then you’re going to take them, sanitize them in some way, you know, because you’re using official photographs, and not these so we don’t have to worry about drugs, weed, guns, gang signs, whatever, and showing them back to you, **thereby confirming your initial identification**. What that really is ... in its essence, is bolstering. It’s bolstering and it’s suggestive because if you’re going to show - - if a person has screenshots and spent hours looking at photographs of certain individuals and then within a couple of days you’re going to turn around and show them some sort of neutral lineups of these individuals, that is, in its very nature, suggestive.

R. 189, l. 18 – 190, l. 6. (emphasis added). Counsel, referring to the process as punitive, concluded the request for exclusion by correctly articulating that Martinez-Garcia basically regurgitated, “through the official State lineup procedure, what she’s already given to the State in

the first place.” R. 190, l. 19 – 191, l. 10. That process, counsel claimed, was “inherently unreliable.” Id.

Relying on Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972), the trial court found that “there was no level of suggestion” and ruled that the identification was admissible. R. 191, l. 11 – 193, l. 16. After the trial court noted both defense counsel took exception with the ruling, counsel for Appellant moved to exclude the in-court identification of the other witnesses. R. 193, ll. 19 – 21. The solicitor indicated that most of the other witnesses could not identify Appellant in the courtroom. R. 193, l. 22 – 194, l. 8. This bore out at trial, where Rey Rodriguez testified that he was never shown a six-pack of photographs. R. 333, ll. 19 – 22. Other than Martinez-Garcia, witnesses for the state were unsure whether they could identify the two young men who came into the home. R. 368, l. 3 – 369, l. 6; R. 676, ll. 15 – 25.

Martinez-Garcia testified before the jury with an interpreter. R. 415. She recalled meeting with Khan to perform a photographic lineup. R. 456, ll. 3 – 12. The two met in a room at the sheriff’s department to review lineups. R. 460, l. 20 – 462, l. 16. Over objection, State’s Exhibit 88 was admitted. R. 471, ll. 2 – 22. As seen on the exhibit, Martinez-Garcia advised law enforcement that she had seen the individual she identified at school before, as well as at her father’s work. R. 472, ll. 2 – 7. She described him as the taller of the two individuals from the mobile home robbery. R. 472, ll. 14 – 18. Martinez-Garcia clarified on the stand that she actually recognized the shorter individual, co-defendant White, from school. R. 473, ll. 10 – 21. Martinez-Garcia nonetheless identified someone in the courtroom at trial as the taller man she picked out of State’s Exhibit 88, although the record does not contain an indication that she identified Appellant. R. 473, l. 22 – 474, l. 3.

After the conclusion of Martinez-Garcia's testimony, defense counsel for co-defendant White moved to reconsider the admissibility of the identification based on the fact that it was "fundamentally defective." R. 550, ll. 2 – 24. Counsel also moved for a mistrial, and counsel for Appellant joined in the entirety of the motions. Id. The trial court denied the motion as to the suggestive nature of the lineup and withheld ruling on the remainder. R. 551, ll. 8 – 21.

Appellant presented evidence from Bernard Blaney, a high school assistant administrator, that Appellant and Martinez-Garcia never attended the same school at the same time. R. 963, l. 25 – 964, l. 22.

### Discussion

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Rule 403, SCRE.

The purpose of photographic lineups, to pick out an individual when identity was not previously known, was neither accomplished nor necessary in this instance. Martinez-Garcia had already identified a Facebook account containing multiple pictures of Appellant, and she claimed he was the taller of the two individuals who allegedly entered the mobile home in July 2017.

"A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure arranged by police which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification." State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). "An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Id.

In Neil v. Biggers, the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness identification. Due process requires courts to assess, on a case-by-case basis, whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, and if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198, 93 S.Ct. 375. Under the totality of the circumstances, the factors to be considered in assessing the reliability of an otherwise unduly suggestive identification procedure are: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977) (citing Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199–200, 93 S.Ct. 375).

The Supreme Court of the United States has repeatedly emphasized “that due process concerns arise only when law enforcement officers use an identification procedure that is both suggestive and unnecessary.” Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. 228, 238-39, 132 S.Ct. 716, 724, 181 L.Ed. 2d 694, 707 (2012) (citing Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 107, 109, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 2249, 2250, 53 L.Ed. 2d 140, 149, 151 (1977), and Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198, 93 S.Ct. at 382, 34 L.Ed. 2d at 411); see also Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426 (describing the trial court's task under the first prong as determining “whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures”). “[W]hat triggers due process concerns is police use of an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure....” Perry, 565 U.S. at 232 n.1, 132 S.Ct. at 721 n.1, 181 L.Ed. 2d at 703 n.1.

When evidence's prejudicial effect outweighs its probative value, it should be excluded, even if otherwise relevant. State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 665 S.E.2d 201 (Ct. App. 2008). Unfair prejudice, for purposes of Rule 403, SCRE, means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. State v. Tallent, 430 S.C. 438, 845 S.E.2d 508 (Ct. App. 2020).

In State v. Lawson, this Court held that the trial court erred in allowing testimony that a ten-print card law enforcement used to identify fingerprints on a car in a breaking into a motor vehicle case. 424 S.C. 51, 817 S.E.2d 509 (Ct. App. 2018). The state's case against Lawson was circumstantial and relied almost entirely on the fingerprints to connect him to the crime. Id. Testimony that the fingerprints were collected at a correctional institution more than ten years before indicated that Lawson had a prior criminal record; such evidence was prejudicial because it could have influenced the jury's verdict. Id.

Similarly, the photographic lineup was unnecessary and prejudicial in the matter *sub judice*. Martinez-Garcia had already identified a Facebook account containing pictures that appeared to depict the one of the individuals she believed had robbed her and others in July 2017. Thus, as pointed out by defense counsel, the state was merely bolstering her testimony by showing that she was capable of picking out from a lineup an individual she had already identified on her own. There was no chance she would have picked anyone else. The photographic lineup was unnecessary and cumulative, and the suggestion that the process was probative is disingenuous. The lineup was an illusory confirmation of something that had already been determined. The evidence resulted in detrimentally unfair prejudice, and Appellant is entitled to a new trial.

The identification by Martinez-Garcia was incompetent evidence. Evidence is incompletely if it could create dangers such as prejudice, undue delay, confusion of the issues,

tendency to mislead the jury, waste of time, or cumulative presentation. State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 665 S.E.2d 201 (Ct. App. 2008). There was little likelihood, if any, that Martinez-Garcia would be unable to identify Appellant in the photographic lineup, especially following her individual research on Facebook. By selecting his picture, she gave undeserved credibility to her pre-trial identification.

**II. The trial court erred in admitting two photographs from social media of Appellant and his co-defendant, where the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, where the photographs showed the two individuals holding money and smoking, and where the photographs were cumulative to the testimony offered by the witness who encountered the photographs on social media.**

Standard of review

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (“quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “ An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

Relevant facts

Martinez-Garcia screenshot two pictures on the Runachekup Youngn Facebook page which were admitted over objection as state’s Exhibit 84 and 85. Previously, counsel for Appellant moved to suppress both of them. Exhibit 84 depicted money being held by both individuals shown in the photograph. Counsel therefore correctly argued:

I think the jury is going to look at it, see that [they have] money, and just imply that, oh, that's the money [from the robbery] or something like that. And obviously there's money involved in this case. But, you know, I just don't - - I just think the probative [value] is very low. I think there's a danger of unfair prejudice when you have the defendant with a bunch of cash that is not being offered to show he has the cash.

R. 401, l. 20 – 402, l. 2. The trial judge denied the motion. R. 402, ll. 17 – 24.

Regarding state's exhibit 85, counsel for co-defendant White argued:

I think there are two problems with that photograph and why they're - - it's more prejudicial than probative. One is the hand gestures that my client is making, which are nonstandard hand gestures that may be interpreted as either invitations to violence or gang signs. I think there is also, in that particular picture, the short man, the one crouching, is holding what appears to be a Black & Mild or a blunt of some sort, which may give rise to an inference that they're smoking dope or doing drugs or something otherwise improper.

R. 403, l. 19 – 404, l. 4. Counsel for Appellant concurred, noting the nonexistent probative value and cumulative nature of the photograph. R. 404, ll. 16 – 25. The trial judge denied the motion to suppress, finding that the probative value of the photograph is that the two people shown in the photograph know each other. R. 405, ll. 1 – 16. Notably, as part of the judge's decision, he advised the state that "any other photos for identification purposes would be cumulative evidence at this point." R. 411, ll. 10 – 21.

### Discussion

The slight relevance of the photographs showing that Appellant and his co-defendant knew each other was vastly outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Therefore, the trial court exceeded its discretion by admitting the photographs. Admission of the photograph did not accomplish much, except to attack the character of Appellant and his co-defendant and suggest that the jury render a guilty verdict for improper reasons.

Proving that the two young men knew each other was something the state was prepared to achieve through other means. The state elicited testimony from James Greenawalt, a former

officer with the North Charleston Police testimony, about a traffic stop on July 29, 2017. R. 604, l. 24 – 606, l. 4. Although neither Appellant nor co-defendant White were driving, a vehicle they were riding in was pulled over for speeding. Id. The state therefore obtained this testimony and made the point that the two young men knew each other.

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