RECEIVED

May 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000537

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DAQUAN JAVOR CRUMMEY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting St.
Charleston, SC 29401
(803) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court correctly admitted a victim identification based on a non-suggestive six-person photo lineup despite the fact that the victim had previously seen Crummey's picture on Facebook.**

Crummey alleges the trial court erred by admitting evidence that Dulce Martinez identified him from a six-person photo lineup. However, he does not allege the lineup itself was unduly suggestive. Instead, he argues the identification was inadmissible because Martinez had previously seen Crummey's picture on Facebook and recognized him as one of the burglars who robbed her at gun point. He claims evidence about the six-person lineup was "incompetent" because it allowed Martinez to "bolster" her prior identification. He claims the lineup was "unnecessary" and "illusory confirmation of something that had been determined," and should have been excluded despite the fact that the police did not use a suggestive procedure. Brief of Appellant at 9.

This argument is not preserved because it is different from the argument Crummey made at trial. Even if preserved, the argument is meritless. Martinez's identification was hardly "illusory confirmation." Even though Martinez had previously recognized Crummey from Facebook pictures, the six-person lineup was probative to test her recognition of Crummey in a neutral setting. The six-person lineup showed Crummey alongside five other similar-looking individuals, without displaying distinctive features such as clothing and gold teeth. Crummey's entire trial strategy was to show that Martinez's identification was unreliable, making all

identification evidence highly probative to the jury's determination of guilt. Furthermore, even if the probative value was low, the lineup was not unfairly prejudicial. Crummey cites no authority and no good reason to support his assertion that the lineup gave "undeserved credibility to her pretrial identification." Brief of Appellant at 10. Absent a suggestive procedure orchestrated by police, the weight to be given to a witness's identification is a matter for the jury. Having failed to discredit Martinez's identification at trial, Crummey should not be allowed to re-litigate this jury issue on appeal. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

The decision to admit an eyewitness identification is in the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion, or the commission of prejudicial legal error. State v. Govan, 372 S.C. 552, 556, 643 S.E.2d 92, 94 (Ct. App. 2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006).

B. Error preservation.

Crummey's argument is not preserved for review because it is different from the argument he made at trial. During the pretrial hearing on Crummey's motion to suppress the lineup identification, Crummey argued the lineup identification was unreliable. (R.p.187). Everyone understood the motion was premised on the allegation that police used an unduly suggestive lineup procedure, as prohibited by the Neil v. Biggers line of cases. See Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972)

(explaining police may not use unduly suggestive procedures to procure a witness identification). The trial court, attorneys, and even the court reporter recognized the hearing as an "identification" hearing. (R.p.131). The court directed the parties to focus on "whether that identification was reliable and . . . unduly suggestive." (R.p.145). The hearing focused on suggestiveness and reliability, with the State even introducing a video recording of the lineup procedure to show police did not suggest to Martinez which picture she should select. (R.p.155). When the court announced its ruling, it went through a Biggers analysis focused on the reliability and suggestiveness of the lineup. (R.p.191). Crummey never argued the identification was inadmissible under Rule 403, SCRE, a view that has never been endorsed by the appellate courts of this state. An argument not raised and ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appeal. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (explaining "a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal"). Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for review.

C. Discussion.

The United States Constitution's Due Process clause prohibits police eyewitness identification techniques that are "so suggestive as to violate due process." Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 105 (1977). An identification procedure must be *both* unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable misidentification in order to violate due process. State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). "Only if [the procedure] was suggestive need the court consider the second question—whether there was a substantial likelihood of

irreparable misidentification." State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 287, 540 S.E.2d 445, 447–48 (2000).

Crummey fails to satisfy the first prong of the Biggers analysis: that police employed an unduly suggestive identification procedure. See Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. 228, 241 (2012) (explaining Biggers analysis only comes into play when there has been "improper police conduct"). His argument is premised on the assertion that Martinez's viewing of Crummey's pictures on Facebook corrupted her subsequent identification. But police did not show Martinez Crummey's Facebook page; Martinez viewed it on her own. Accordingly, this was not State conduct and is not a basis for suppression of the subsequent six-person lineup. State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 613, 527 S.E.2d 389, 392 (Ct. App. 2000) (explaining identification from media photograph did not violate due process "because the police were not involved"); Kirkland v. State, 854 S.E.2d 508, 512 (Ga. 2021) (explaining the fact that eyewitness viewed a picture of defendant prior to six-person lineup "has no bearing on the identification procedure employed by [police] and provides no evidence that the procedure, itself, was unduly suggestive"); Curry v. State, 305 Ga. 73, 78, 823 S.E.2d 758, 763 (2019) (explaining witness's "viewing of a photograph in the newspaper was not an identification procedure employed by law enforcement").

The only identification procedure arranged by police was the six-person photo lineup. The lineup itself, State's Exhibit #88, contains pictures of six remarkably similar-looking individuals. (R. 1202-03). The accompanying instructions, trial testimony, and video documenting the lineup procedure conclusively demonstrate

there was no improper suggestion by the police. (Court's Exhibit #8; R.p.153-58; 1202-03). The trial court correctly found the procedure was not suggestive. (R.p.193).

Perhaps in recognition of this fact, Crummey does not allege that the lineup itself was suggestive. Instead, he argues the identification evidence was "incompetent" under Rule 403, SCRE. Brief of Appellant at 9. While Crummey's brief cites constitutional cases centering on suggestive police identification procedures, he primarily contends it was unfair under Rule 403 to even *show* Martinez a six-person lineup because she had previously identified Crummey through Facebook pictures she viewed independently of the police. Crummey is essentially repeating his co-defendant's bizarre trial argument that when police show a witness who is familiar with the suspect a "neutral lineup . . . that is, in its very nature, suggestive." (R.p.190). Co-defendant's counsel made this argument despite his admission that the lineup itself was not suggestive, declaring "it is a facially good identification procedure" (R.p.464).

Despite the fact that Crummey's entire trial strategy was to cast doubt on Martinez's identification, he now claims the neutral six-person lineup was "illusory confirmation of something that had been determined." Brief of Appellant at 9. Crummey seems to be claiming the six-person lineup had no probative value because Martinez's initial identification based on the Facebook pictures conclusively "determined" her ability to identify Crummey. He then claims it was "unfair" for the police to test Martinez's ability to recognize Crummey, and that her

identification was inadmissible for the jury's consideration. He does not cite any case that supports his assertion.

Contrary to Crummey's argument, there is nothing unfair about testing a witness's ability to recognize a suspect in a non-suggestive lineup procedure when the victim has previously seen a picture of the suspect. On the contrary, there is great probative value in an eyewitness's ability to identify a suspect through a photo lineup consisting of six similar-looking individuals without individualized clothing or context. The six-person lineup identification was inherently more challenging than Martinez's identification based on pictures located on Crummey's Facebook page. After initially recognizing Crummey, there was little doubt Martinez would recognize him in each subsequent Facebook photo because each picture presumably featured Crummey. By contrast, a six-person lineup consisting of six similar-looking individuals does actually test the witness's degree of recognition, even if the witness has previously viewed a picture of the suspect in a context where he would be easily recognizable.¹

In the six-person lineup, Crummey is not wearing any distinctive clothes and has his mouth shut to conceal his distinctive gold teeth, which are visible in the

¹ It should be noted that even Martinez's identification of Crummey from Facebook was not suggestive. Martinez testified she has around two thousand Facebook friends. (R.p.502-24). No one presented Crummey's photo for her to identify in connection with the burglary; it happened to appear on her homepage and she recognized him. There was no suggestion involved at all, much less orchestration by police. Furthermore, Martinez was already familiar with Crummey, and testified she recognized him on the day of the robbery but did not know his name. (R.p.420).

Facebook pictures. (R.p.1196-99). Martinez was not friends with Crummey. She had merely seen him around her father's auto shop. (R.p.167). Crummey was of a different race than Martinez, which may have affected her ability to identify him. In fact, Crummey elicited testimony from an expert witness that cross-racial identifications are inherently less reliable. (R.p.923–24). The expert even testified specifically about "studies that deal specifically with Hispanic individuals identifying African Americans[.]" (R.p.924). Yet on appeal, Crummey claims it was unavoidable that Martinez would choose his picture out of a neutral lineup depicting six remarkably similar-looking individuals.

Even if the lineup was made less probative by the fact that Martinez had viewed pictures of Crummey, surely it had *some* probative value. The State in a criminal case has the highest burden of proof in the law: proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Evidence tending to shed light on the central issue in a prosecution for most violent offenses has great probative value and should be admitted under all but the most extreme circumstances. See State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 453, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000) ("It seems to be well settled that litigants . . . should not be hampered in their choice of those by whom they choose to prove their cases"); State v. Jackson, 364 S.C. 329, 334, 613 S.E.2d 374, 376 (2005) (explaining the State "has the right to prove every element of the crime charged"). And even if there was some prejudice in the lineup procedure, the prejudice must *substantially* outweigh the probative value. See Rule 403, SCRE (providing that "[a]lthough relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is *substantially* outweighed by the danger of

unfair prejudice") (emphasis added). Martinez's identification was the central issue in the entire case, making the circumstances of her identification highly probative. See State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 320, 728 S.E.2d 68, 72 (Ct. App. 2012) (explaining the "central theme of Stephens's defense was discrediting Bates's identification of him in the lineup. By doing so, he made the photographic lineup far more important than it might otherwise have been, thereby increasing its probative value."). Given that the strength of Martinez's identification was of paramount importance, the prejudice would have to be extremely high to exclude it.

Crummey argues the lineup identification should have been excluded because it was not "necessary" to the State's case. Brief of Appellant at 9. But evidence "need not be 'necessary' to the State's case in order to be admitted." State v. Daise, 421 S.C. 442, 464, 807 S.E.2d 710, 721 (Ct. App. 2017). Rather, "[e]vidence is admissible if 'logically relevant' to establish a material fact or element of the crime." Id.

Furthermore, there was nothing *unfair* about police testing Martinez's ability to pick Crummey's image from a six-person lineup. If the lineup had as little probative value as Crummey suggests, the jury could simply not give it any weight. See Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. 228, 237 (2012) (explaining the "Constitution . . . protects a defendant against a conviction based on evidence of questionable reliability, not by prohibiting introduction of the evidence, but by *affording the defendant means to persuade the jury that the evidence should be*

discounted as unworthy of credit") (emphasis added). Indeed, this was what Crummey urged the jury to do in his closing argument. (R.p.1027–31).

There is no support in precedent or in practice for Crummey's assertion that the only legitimate purpose of a photo lineup is "to pick out an individual when identity was not previously known." Brief of Appellant at 7. Taken to its logical conclusion, this argument would bar legitimate identification procedures in a host of cases where an eyewitness has a tenuous prior knowledge of the suspect. Tellingly, Crummey has not cited a single case that supports the premise of his argument. In fact, our Supreme Court has held that a witness's prior knowledge of a suspect is a factor weighing *in favor* of admissibility of even a suggestive show-up identification because the witness's prior knowledge makes the identification *more reliable*. State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 141, 727 S.E.2d 422, 427 (2012) (explaining the "suggestive nature of a show-up is mitigated by the witness's prior knowledge of the accused"); See also Bean v. State, 240 Md. App. 342, 358, 205 A.3d 26, 36, cert. denied, 464 Md. 591, 212 A.3d 398 (2019) (collecting cases and explaining it is "not improper or unreasonable for [police] to confirm" a witnesses's independent identification). The Liverman court emphasized that absent improper State conduct, the "creditworthiness" of an eyewitness identification is a jury question. Liverman, 398 S.C. at 141, 727 S.E.2d at 427.

Crummey has not addressed Liverman and the cases cited therein or attempted to explain why courts have repeatedly sanctioned the identification procedure he claims to be so unfairly prejudicial. Instead, he cites irrelevant cases

concerning suggestive identification procedures that have nothing to do with his bemusing argument that the neutral six-person lineup gave "undeserved credibility to her pretrial identification." Brief of Appellant at 10. His reliance on State v. Lawson, 424 S.C. 51, 817 S.E.2d (Ct.App.2018), is particularly misplaced, as the issue in that case was that the State introduced gratuitous evidence that Lawson had previously served a prison sentence. There was no such evidence introduced in this case.

Finally, even if there was some degree of unfair prejudice in the lineup procedure, the balancing required by Rule 403, SCRE, is the province of the trial court. "A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances." State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014). The appellate court reviews a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and is "obligated to give *great deference* to the trial court's judgment." Id. (emphasis added). Given the significant probative value of the neutral six-person lineup, the lack of unfairness, and the dearth of authority to support Crummey's argument, he has failed to show an abuse of discretion. This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court correctly admitted two Facebook pictures under the name "Runacheckup Youngn" because the pictures corroborated the victim's testimony explaining how she first identified Crummey and one of the pictures showed Crummey with his codefendant, proving they were associates.

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